FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 FEB -8 PM 12:55

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY AP
DEPUTY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 48045-0-II

LORETTA LESURE, a single woman.

Plaintiff/Appellant

vs.

FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON,
A domestic corporation and a Washington State Stock Insurer,

Defendant/Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Lane J. Wolfley
WOLFLEY LAW OFFICE, P.S.
713 E First St
Port Angeles WA 98362
Phone: (360) 457-2794
WSBA No.9609

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant

P/M: 2/4/16

1. Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in failing to recognize and apply the Efficient Proximate Cause Rule, extending coverage for Mrs. Lesure's fire loss to include further losses caused by municipal building code upgrades.

2. Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in dismissing Mrs. Lesure's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment.

No. 1: Under an all-risk homeowners' insurance policy, if the predominant cause of a loss is a covered peril (in this case, fire), does the efficient proximate cause rule still apply to extend coverage even though another event in the chain of causation (in this case, a building ordinance or law enforcement) is excluded from coverage?

¹ This brief is tailored for this present case, but is mainly the work product of attorney Douglas W. Nicholson, WSBA #24854, of Cone Gilreath Law Offices, representing the Petitioners, in *Allemand v. State Farm*, Supreme Court No. 289541, (2011), in the *Allemand's* Petition for Review before the Supreme Court of Division III's decision in *Allemand v. State Farm Insurance Co.*, 160 Wn. App. 365, 248 P 2d 111 (2011). The Supreme Court granted the Petition, but State Farm settled for Plaintiffs' demand on the eve of argument. This issue still must be decided in this State.

Sub-Issue: If so, does the insurance policy's offer of optional coverage for the building ordinance exclusion conflict with, or circumvent, the efficient proximate cause rule where the optional coverage, if purchased by the insured, operates to reduce the coverage that would have otherwise been available had the insured not purchased the optional coverage? (This is an issue not yet addressed by the Supreme Court.)

Sub-Issue: In light of the efficient proximate cause rule, does the insured's purchase of optional coverage for the exclusion render the policy illusory where the optional coverage operates to reduce the amount of coverage that would have otherwise been available to cover the loss had the insured not purchased the optional coverage?

Sub-Issue: Did the trial court err in not finding that Coverage A of the insurance policy recognizes the efficient proximate cause rule, and actually applies the rule to cover building code upgrades that are required when repairing a covered loss?

No. 2: Is the relevant policy language ambiguous; that is, is it subject to more than one reasonable interpretation?

Sub-Issue: If so, does a fair and reasonable interpretation of Lesure's all-risk homeowners' policy establish that the optional code enforcement coverage (Option s7981A) applies only to the costs of the

actual code upgrades themselves, and not as a second cap on the amount available under Coverage A to replace the dwelling?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Loretta Lesure owned a house in Port Angeles, Washington, that was severely damaged by an accidental fire on January 4, 2014. CP 32. Her house was insured under an all-risk homeowners' insurance policy issued by Farmers. CP 13, and Ex. 10, at CP 119-163. The house was originally built in 1940 without a foundation. CP 32. When the fire occurred, the Lesure house did not comply with current local building code requirements applicable to its foundation, crawl space, and electrical wiring among other things. CP 34-35. Due to those deficiencies, Mrs. Lesure could not obtain a building permit to simply repair the portions of her house that were damaged or destroyed by the fire; instead, she had to tear down the entire house, including the undamaged portions, and rebuild and replace it from scratch. CP 34, 106-112. The replacement cost of the house was \$125,397.72. CP 32.

Mrs. Lesure's Farmer's homeowners' policy provided a maximum of \$112,000 under Coverage A to repair or replace her home. CP 119. Under the loss settlement provisions applicable to Coverage A (dwelling), the policy excluded "loss from enforcement of any ordinance or law

regulating the construction, repair or demolition of a building or other structure, unless endorsed to this policy.” CP 108. Optional Endorsement s7981A “provided” additional coverage for an additional sum, equal to 10% of the policy maximum, or \$11,200, for costs resulting from building code enforcement. CP 109. Mrs. Lesure was induced to purchase the “additional coverage” provided by Option s7981A by a Farmer’s agent, John Z. Miller. CP 144. Had Farmer’s intended that the Optional Endorsement S7981A actually reduce her coverage by eliminating her rights under the Efficient Proximate Rule, such inducement would have been fraudulent.

Farmer’s paid Mrs. Lesure the total amount of \$17,384.47 for repairs estimates to pre-loss condition, plus \$11,200 for building upgrade under Option s7981A. CP 144. This amount consisted of the estimated amount to repair only the damaged portion of Lesure’s house under Coverage A (without considering the fact that the entire house, including the undamaged portion, had to be completely demolished and replaced to comply with current building code requirements), plus the \$11,200 limit available for code upgrades, instead of covering the loss up to the policy limits pursuant to the efficient proximate cause rule under Coverage A.

Mrs. Lesure then filed an action in Clallam County Superior Court for declaratory judgment and damages, arguing that Farmers was required to pay the maximum under both Coverage A and Option s7981A. CP 199. The trial court disagreed with her interpretation of the policy, issuing an Order on Summary Judgment dismissing Lesure's complaint. CP 09.

In doing so, the trial court held that the homeowners' insurance policy is unambiguous (CP 12); that Farmer's obligation under Coverage A is limited to pay the actual cash value of the damage to the property (CP 12); and that the policy excludes coverage for required code upgrades; instead, holding that the policy provides for necessary upgrades under Option s7981A, which is "limited by the policy she purchased to 10% of the policy limits." CP 14.

By limiting her coverage for building code upgrades to 10% of the policy limits under Option s7981A, the trial court expressly ignored the efficient proximate cause rule, which would have enforced coverage, in the absence of the purchased Option, for the entire loss up to the policy limits. In short, the trial court held that she paid for an endorsement option which gutted her rights she otherwise would have had under the efficient proximate cause rule.

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The efficient proximate cause of the damage to Mrs. Lesure's home was an accidental fire, a covered peril under Coverage A of their all-risk homeowners' policy. The policy's loss settlement provisions applicable to Coverage A exclude increased costs caused by the enforcement of any ordinance or law regulating the construction or repair of the house, unless the insured pays an additional premium to acquire such coverage under Option s7981A. If the policy simply contained a blanket exclusion for the increased costs caused by building ordinance or law enforcement, the efficient proximate cause rule would apply in this case to extend coverage for the entire fire loss. The same result would hold if Mrs. Lesure *had not* paid extra to make Option s7981A part of her policy. By doing so, Mrs. Lesure paid more for this ostensible "additional coverage," but in fact unwittingly penalized herself with less coverage for her additional payment. As such, the purported additional coverage extended under Option s7981A is illusory and circumvents the efficient proximate cause rule.

Furthermore, Mrs. Lesure's Farmer's policy is ambiguous. A fair and reasonable interpretation of the relevant provisions of the policy is that Option s7981A is a separate coverage provision, which provides

“additional insurance” to pay for legally required code upgrades. As such, Option s7981A’s coverage limit operates only as a cap on the amount Farmer’s will pay for the actual costs of the code upgrades themselves; it does not otherwise limit the coverage available for the dwelling under Coverage A of the policy, or circumvent the efficient proximate cause rule.² Any other interpretation means that Mrs. Lesure receives less coverage while paying more for, what Farmer’s claims, is additional coverage.

E. ARGUMENT

This issue has not been addressed in the Supreme Court of Washington, which is a matter of substantial public interest. Farmer’s all-risk homeowners’ policy is a standard form, adhesion contract that covers accidental fire loss, but excludes increased costs caused by building code enforcement, unless the insured pays an additional premium for optional code enforcement coverage. The policy limit for this optional coverage, however, is only 10% of the coverage limit available for the dwelling under Coverage A. The entire loss would have been covered under the

² The Trial court incorrectly found that, “the necessary upgrades required more than 10% of the limit of Coverage A and Farmer’s thus properly tendered its limits under that coverage.” Nothing in the record supports this finding, as no evidence was presented as to what the actual code upgrades themselves cost. Moreover, irrespective of the code upgrades, Lesure’s entire house, including the *undamaged portions*, had to be razed. Thus, under the trial court’s ruling, Lesure was not compensated for the loss to the undamaged portion of her home, even though the fire was the efficient proximate cause of that loss.

efficient proximate cause rule had Mrs. Lesure declined to pay for the optional code upgrade coverage; thus, the optional coverage is illusory: Mrs. Lesure paid *more*, but in fact received *less* coverage under the trial court's construction of the policy. Furthermore, this outcome has the effect of circumventing the efficient proximate cause rule: it also defeats the purpose of the rule and the reason for purchasing an all-risk homeowners' policy.

The impact of this outcome is not limited to Mrs. Lesure; rather, it likewise affects all holders of Farmer's standard form all-risk homeowners' policy in this state, as well as the policy holders of similar insurance policies issued by other insurers in this state.

Moreover, the trial court's decision in this case is in conflict with the efficient proximate cause rule as articulated by the Supreme Court. The trial court's decision is also in conflict, or at least difficult to reconcile, with Division One's decision in *Starzewski v. Unigard Insurance*, 61 Wn. App. 267, 810 P.2d 58 (1991), *review denied*, 117 Wn.2d 1017 (1991). The case law is in conflict, no doubt, as seen in *Allemand v. State Farm Insurance Co.*, 160 Wn. App. 365, 248 P.2d 111 (2011), cited by the trial court. Indeed, the parties can each find some support for their position in existing case law."

This Court should take the opportunity to reaffirm its commitment to the efficient proximate cause rule and make clear that unambiguous policy exclusions or limitations on coverage, however worded, may not be permitted to override or undermine the rule, at least with respect to adhesion contracts in the all-risk homeowners' policy setting. In this context, absent extrinsic evidence of both the insured's and the insurer's intent, the efficient proximate cause rule should be applied predictably and uniformly.

2. The Efficient Proximate Cause Rule Applies to Extend Coverage if the Predominant Cause of the Loss is an Insured Peril, Even if Another Event in the Chain of Causation is a Specifically Excluded Peril.

The Supreme Court first adopted the efficient proximate cause rule in *Graham v. Pemco*, 98 Wn.2d 533, 656 P.2d 1077 (1983). Under the rule, "where an insured risk itself sets into operation a chain of causation in which the last step may have been an excepted risk, the excepted risk will not defeat recovery." *Villella v. Pemco*, 106 Wn.3d 806, 816, 725 P.2d 957 (1986). The Supreme Court has expressly reaffirmed its commitment to the efficient proximate cause rule in each decision since *Graham v. Villella*. See *Safeco Insurance v. Hirschmann*, 112 Wn.3d 621, 625-26, 773 P.2d 413 (1989); *McDonald v. Farmer's*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 731, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992); *Key Tronic Corporation v. Aetna*, 124 Wn.2d

618, 625-26, 881 P.2d 201 (1994); *Kish v. Insurance Co. of N. Am.*, 125 Wn.2d 164, 169-170, 883 P.2d 308 (1994); *Findlay v. United Pacific Ins.*, 129 Wn.2d 368, 372-74, 917 P.2d 116 (1996); *Allstate Ins. Co. v Raynor*, 143 Wn.2d 469, 479-80, 21 P.3d 707 (2001).

The Supreme Court has also made clear that an insurer cannot defeat the application of the efficient proximate cause rule by drafting exclusionary language to circumvent it. *Hirschmann*, 112 Wn.2d at 627; *Key Tronic Corporation*, 124 Wn.2d at 626; *Findlay*, 129 Wn.2d at 375 (“insurer could not, by drafting a variation in exclusionary clause language, deny coverage when a *covered peril sets in motion a causal chain the last link of which is an excluded peril*”) (citing *Hirschmann*, 112 Wn.2d at 626-27 (italics original)).

The efficient proximate cause rule, however, does not apply to extend coverage “[i]f the efficient proximate cause. . . is a specifically named, unambiguous excluded peril in the policy.” *Findlay*, 129 Wn.2d at 380. “[I]n a chain of causation case, the efficient proximate cause rule is properly applied after (1) a determination of which single act or event is the efficient proximate cause of the loss, and (2) a determination that the efficient proximate cause of the loss is a covered peril.” *Findlay*, 129 Wn.2d at 376 (citing *McDonald*, 119 Wn.2d at 732).

Where, as here, the efficient proximate cause of the loss is a covered peril, even a specific, unambiguous exclusion will not defeat coverage for the entire loss, even if the excluded event contributed to or aggravated the loss. *Villella*, 106 Wn.2d at 819. In *Villella*, the earth movement exclusion unambiguously applied to both landslide and mudflow. *Id.* at 809. Despite this unambiguous exclusion, this Court held that it would not defeat coverage if the alleged negligently constructed drainage system (a covered peril) was the efficient proximate cause of the loss: “If so, the earth movement exclusionary clause would *not* exclude coverage.” *Id.* at 819 (italics original); *see also*, *Hirschmann*, 112 Wn.2d at 629.

Here, Mrs. Lesure’s Farmer’s policy specifically excludes costs caused by the enforcement of a building ordinance or law, unless the insured pays an additional premium for the optional building ordinance or law coverage extended under Option s7981A of the policy. Even if the relevant language of the policy is found to be unambiguous, it cannot defeat coverage for the entire loss in this case, since the efficient proximate cause of the loss was an accidental fire, a covered peril. Further support for this conclusion will be set forth in the following section.

3. Mrs. Lesure’s Farmer’s Homeowners’ Policy Effectively Circumvents the Efficient Proximate Cause Rule Because the Entire

Fire Loss Would Have Been Covered Had she Not Paid Extra for the Optional Building Ordinance and Law Coverage.

Under the efficient proximate cause rule, “[i]f the initial event, the ‘efficient proximate cause,’ is a covered peril, then there is coverage under the policy regardless whether subsequent events within the chain, which may be causes-in-fact of the loss, are excluded by the policy.” *Hirschmann*, 112 Wn.2d at 628. “[T]he purpose of the efficient proximate cause rule is to provide a ‘workable rule of coverage that provides a fair result within the reasonable expectations of both the insured and the insurer’”. *Kish*, 125 Wn.2d at 172 (quoting *Garvey v. Farmer’s Fire & Cas. Co.*, 48 Cal.3d 395, 404, 770 P.2d 704, 257 Cal. Rptr. 292 (1989)); *Findlay*, 129 Wn 2d at 377.

Here, Farmer’s, which is in the business of insurance and drafting insurance policies, can be reasonably expected to be aware of the efficient proximate cause rule and its application in insurance policy construction. Mrs. Lesure, however, cannot be reasonably expected to be aware of the rule and its application. Farmer’s all-risk homeowners’ policy defeats the purpose of the efficient proximate cause rule, because it provides an *unfair result*: Mrs. Lesure paid more for Option s7981A, ostensibly to provide “additional coverage” for losses caused by building code enforcement, an otherwise excluded peril. In doing so, however, under the trial court’s

construction of the policy, Mrs. Lesure actually reduced the coverage available to her for the fire loss.

Under the efficient proximate cause rule, had Mrs. Lesure declined the optional coverage, the entire loss would have been covered. Since the fire was the efficient proximate cause that triggered the excluded risk (building code enforcement), the excluded risk would not have defeated coverage. *Villella*, 106 Wn.2d at 815. Simply put, Farmer's building ordinance or law exclusion circumvents the efficient proximate cause rule.

In *Allemand v. Farmer's*, 160 Wn. App., 365, 248 P.3d 111 (2011), the trial court observed that "Coverage A of the policy expressly indicates that it does cover building code upgrades caused by the same loss only under the Optional OL Coverage and to the extent provided in that coverage" [10% of the Coverage A limit]. *Allemand*, 160 Wn. App. at 372. The Court of Appeals did not address the Efficient Proximate Cause Rule, except at footnote 2, where the Court stated, "This provision recognizes the efficient proximate cause rule.... The policy actually applies the rule and covers building code upgrades that are required when repairing a covered loss." By failing to adequately address the Rule, the Court of Appeals Division III failed to grasp what the central issue was before it.

Mrs. Lesure disagrees with Division III's conclusion in *Allemand*, and urges this court to recognize and enforce of efficient proximate cause rule. The loss provisions applicable to Coverage A expressly excluded "increased costs resulting from [i.e., 'caused by'] enforcement of any ordinance or law." *unless* they paid an additional premium to purchase optional coverage for this exclusion. CP 23. There appears to be no case in this state addressing similar policy language, except for *Allemand*. Construing this language, which is in effect a *conditional exclusion*, in light of the efficient proximate cause rule is critical in deciding this case.

If Mrs. Lesure had declined to purchase the optional building code enforcement coverage under Option s7981A, then the building code enforcement exclusion would not apply at all to limit coverage for the fire loss. It would be trumped by the efficient proximate cause rule, since the fire, a clearly covered peril, was the predominant cause of the loss. Thus, rather than recognizing and applying the efficient proximate cause rule, Mrs. Lesure's policy cuts her off at the pass as the outlaw of the old West.

4. As Construed by the Trial Court, the Optional Building Code Enforcement Coverage is Illusory Since, in Light of the Efficient Proximate Cause Rule, Mrs. Lesure received No Benefit in Paying for This Additional Coverage; Thus, There Was No Consideration for Her Payment.

“[T]he court will not give effect to interpretations that would render contract obligations illusory.” *Taylor v Shigaki*, 84 Wn. App. 723, 730, 930 P.2d 340 (1997), *review denied*, 132 Wn.2d 1009 (1997). “An illusory contract is unenforceable because there is no consideration.” *St. John Med. Ctr. V. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 110 Wn. App. 51, 68, 38 P.3d 383 (2002), *review denied*, 146 Wn.2d 1023 (2002). Where possible, a contract is to be construed to avoid rendering it illusory. *Taylor*, 84 Wn. App. at 730.

Here, the trial court’s construction of the relevant policy language renders it illusory. Mrs. Lesure paid extra to purchase the Option Building Code Enforcement Coverage, but received less coverage for her additional payment. Again, had she not paid for the purported “additional coverage” offered by Option s7981A, her entire fire loss would have been covered under the efficient proximate cause rule. The appropriate way to reconcile the policy language, so that it is not illusory, is to construe it so that the Optional Building Code Coverage applies only where the code upgrades themselves are the efficient proximate cause of the loss.

The relevant policy language states that Farmer’s will “not cover direct or indirect loss from enforcement of any ordinance or law regulating construction, repair demolition of a building. . .” CP 108.

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