FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 MAR 10 PM 12:47

STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY AP
DEPUTY

No. 48045-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

LORETTA LESURE,

Appellant;

v.

FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF
WASHINGTON

Thomas Lether, WSBA #18089
Eric J. Neal, WSBA #31863
Charles J. Carroll, WSBA #46835
Lether & Associates, PLLC
1848 Westlake Ave N., Suite 100
Seattle, WA 98109
Telephone: (206) 467-5444
Facsimile: (206) 467-5544
tlether@letherlaw.com
eneal@letherlaw.com
ccarroll@letherlaw.com

*Attorneys for Respondent Farmers
Insurance Company of Washington*

P/M: 3/9/16

ORIGINAL

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

Ms. Lesure's brief does not include any reference to the standard of review for this appeal. Farmers therefore takes the opportunity to do so here.

An appellate court reviewing a summary judgment order must engage in the same inquiry as the trial court. *See Sedwick v. Gwinn*, 73 Wash.App. 879, 884, 873 P.2d 528, 531 (1994), *referencing Marincovich v. Tarabochia*, 114 Wash.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990). The appellate court reviews the facts and law with respect to summary judgment de novo. *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings*, 125 Wash.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994).

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions indicate that no genuine issue of material fact exists and a party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). In a summary judgment motion, the moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. *See LaPlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 158, 531 P.2d 299 (1975). The trial court should grant the motion for summary judgment if a party “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.” *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225, *quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986).

Farmers’ Motion for Summary Judgment was based upon undisputed facts. In fact, Ms. Lesure agrees that “[t]he material facts are

not in dispute.” CP 40. As a result, there are no factual issues and this case rests solely on an issue of policy interpretation or construction. Policy interpretation is a question of law. *State Farm General Insurance Company v. Emerson*, 102 Wn.2d 477, 480,687 P.2d 1139 (1984).

B. Principles of Policy Construction Under Washington Law

The interpretation of insurance policy language is a question of law. *State Farm General Insurance Company v. Emerson*, 102 Wn.2d 477, 480,687 P.2d 1139 (1984). A reviewing court examines the policy terms to determine whether or not under the plain meaning of the contract, there is coverage. *Kitsap County v. Allstate Insurance Company*, 136 Wn.2d 567, 575, 964 P.2d 1173 (1998).

If the language is clear and unambiguous, the court must enforce the policy as written and may not modify it or create ambiguity where none exists. *American National Fire Insurance Company v. B & L Trucking and Construction Company*, 134 Wn.2d 413, 428, 951 P.2d 250 (1998). A clause or phrase is only ambiguous when, on its face, it is fairly susceptible of two *different interpretations*, both of which are reasonable. *Weyerhaeuser Company v. Commercial Union Insurance Company*, 142 Wn.2d 654,666, 15 P.3d 115 (2000); *Kitsap County v. Allstate Insurance Company*, 136 Wn.2d 567, 575, 963 P.2d 1171 (1998). Courts may not strain to find an ambiguity in an insurance contract where none exists,

Farmers Home Mutual Insurance Company v. Insurance Company of North America, 20 Wn. App. 815, 820, 583 P.2d 664 (1978), nor can courts create ambiguity or doubt where language of an insurance policy is **not susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation**, *Truck Insurance Exchange v. Aetna Casualty Insurance*, 13 Wn. App. 775, 778, 538 P.2d 529 (1975) (emphasis added); *Britton v. SAFECO*, 104 Wn.2d 518, 528, 707 P.2d 125 (1985). The rule that contracts of insurance are construed in favor of an insured and most strongly against an insurer should not be permitted to have the effect of making the plain agreement ambiguous, and then construing it in favor of the insured. *West American Insurance Company v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Company*, 80 Wn.2d 38, 44, 491 P.2d 641 (1971).

C. **Based on Nine Decades of Legal Precedent, The Superior Court’s Ruling Correctly Applied The Language in the Lesure Policy and Concluded that She Was Not Entitled to Further Benefits**

The Washington Courts have addressed the exact issue in this case. *See, Allemand v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 160 Wn. App. 365, 248 P.3d 111 (2011). In fact, the facts in this matter are nearly identical to those in *Allemand*.

It cost the Allemands \$96,669.56 to replace the house under modern building requirements. Their State Farm homeowners policy provided a maximum of \$89,866.00 under “Coverage A” to repair or replace the home “with

similar construction.” The policy also excluded “increased costs resulting from enforcement of any ordinance or law” including “construction repair or demolition” from coverage except as provided by optional “Option OL.” That optional coverage provided an additional sum, equal to 10 percent of the policy maximum, for costs resulting from building code enforcement. The Allemands had purchased Option OL.

State Farm paid the Allemands \$59,663.55, consisting of the estimated repair costs from the fire plus the maximum OL coverage for the code updates. The Allemands then filed an action for declaratory judgment and damages, arguing that State Farm was required to pay the maximum under both Coverage A and Option OL.

Allemand, 160 Wn. App. at 367-68, 248 P.3d 111.

After addressing the well-settled standards under Washington law for the Court’s review of an insurance policy, the *Allemand* Court turned to the question of whether insurance coverage extends to the costs necessary to bring a residence into compliance with modern building codes. The Court focused on four modern cases pre-dating its decision, but also acknowledged that historically, insurance was not construed as extending to code upgrades. Discussing a 1927 Washington Supreme Court decision, the *Allemand* court described the following:

Gouin involved a house damaged by fire in Seattle. The owner's insurance covered replacement or repair “of like kind [or] quality.” Modern building codes required the house to have a cement or stone foundation and required plaster walls; the previous house had no foundation and had cloth walls. The property owner appealed a jury verdict upholding an appraisal panel's award. Among the issues

raised by the owner was a contention that the verdict was insufficient because the award did not include the cost to bring the repaired building up to code. The Washington Supreme Court declared that such costs were not contemplated by the parties and the damages were limited to the actual cash value of the property or the cost to repair or replace with “material of like kind.” *Id.* at 208-209. In such circumstances, the building code requirements were not covered:

The requirements of the city went far beyond this. They required the foundations of the building to be entirely reconstructed and of different materials from that originally used; they required the upper parts of the building to be finished in a different manner than that in which it was originally finished; in fine, they required a practically new and more costly building. This, we cannot conclude, was within the contemplation of the contract.

Allemand, 160 Wn. App. at 367-68, 248 P.3d 111, quoting *Gouin v. Nw. Nat'l Ins. CO. of Milwaukee*, 145 Wn. 199, 259 P. 387 (1927).

Nonetheless, the *Allemand* Court turned its attention to its four immediate predecessors, finding that the coverage focuses on the language of the loss payment provisions.

The insured in *Allemand* relied primarily on a Division One decision in *Starczewski v. Unigard Ins. Group*, 61 Wn. App. 267, 810 P.2d 58 (1991). *Starczewski* involved a claim relating to a fire loss to a duplex where the policy provided for loss payments up to the actual cash value or “the amount necessary to repair or replace” the property. *Id.* at 269, 810 P.2d 58. The *Starczewski* Court found that the “repair or replace” language in the loss payment provision necessarily required payment for

building code compliance. *Id.* at 274, 810 P.2d 58.

Four years later, Division One was once again confronted with this question in a matter entitled *Roberts v. Allied Group Insurance Co.*, 79 Wn. App. 323, 901 P.2d 317 (1995). *Roberts* involved a fire loss to a single family home that was not in compliance with the current codes. Unlike the policy in *Starczewski*, however, the *Roberts* policy provided for loss payments “for like construction”. *Id.* at 325, 901 P.2d 317. That policy also specifically defined replacement cost as the costs associated with repairing or replacing property “with new materials of like kind and quality.” *Id.* at 325, 901 P.2d 317.

The *Roberts* Court therefore determined that the *Starczewski* dicta relating to code compliance benefits was not applicable, and, relying on *Gouin*, determined that code compliance benefits were not available where the policy contains “like kind and quality” type language. *Id.* at 325, 901 P.2d 317.

The *Allemand* Court also discussed a Division Two case involving this same issue, and in fact discussing it in the context of a Farmers policy with the same language as that at issue in this case. *Dombrosky v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington*, 84 Wn. App. 245, 928 P.2d 1127 (1996). In *Dombrosky*, as here, the policy provided for repair or replacement of damaged or destroyed property with “equivalent construction.” *Id.* at 257,

928 P.2d 1127. In fact, as is also the case in the instant matter, the *Dombrosky* policy also had a specific exclusion for costs related to the enforcement of building codes or ordinances. *Id.* The *Dombrosky* Court determined that the term “equivalent construction” had the same effect as the term “like kind and quality” in the *Roberts* policy and rejected the arguments of the insureds based on *Starczewski*. Thus, the Court concluded that based on “equivalent construction” language in the loss payment provisions of the Farmers’ policy, along with the existing exclusion, there was no coverage available for code compliance.

Finally, the *Allemand* Court discussed a Division 3 case involving a fire loss to a residential structure. *DePhelps v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America*, 116 Wn. App. 441, 65 P.3d 1234 (2003). While the *DePhelps* case also provided for loss payment on an “equivalent construction” basis, the *DePhelps* Court found that the insureds were entitled to coverage for code compliance because the policy there at issue specifically included a clause indicating that losses would be paid “on the basis of any ordinance or law that regulates the construction, repair, or demolition of” the subject property. *Id.* at 449, 65 P.3d 1234. As a result, the *DePhelps* Court distinguished the *Roberts* and *Dombrosky* decisions on the basis that the *DePhelps* policy specifically provided a coverage extension for the cost of code compliance. *Id.*

Having fully addressed the legal standards for the analysis of this issue in the State of Washington, the *Allemand* Court then turned to the case before it, which, like here, involved (1) a loss payment provision similar to the *Roberts* and *Dombrowsky* cases, (2) a building and ordinance exclusion, like that in *Dombrosky*, and (3) a building and ordinance optional insurance endorsement limited to 10% of the Dwelling Limits.

As all of those cases show, the ultimate controlling language is that found in the policy. The Coverage A language states in part that

- a. We will pay the cost to repair or replace with similar construction and for the same use on the premises ... subject to the following:...

 - (4) we will not pay for increased costs resulting from enforcement of any ordinance or law regulating the construction, repair or demolition of a building or other structure, except as provided under Option OL – Building Ordinance or Law Coverage.

Allemand, 160 Wn. App. at 371, 248 P.3d 111.

Based on this language, the *Allemand* Court concluded that there would generally not be any coverage available to the insured for code compliance costs based on cases such as *Gouin*, *Roberts*, and *Dombrosky*.

The policy at issue here covers “similar construction” and is the same as the “like” construction at issue in *Gouin* and *Roberts* and the “equivalent” construction in *DePhelps* and *Dombrosky*. Thus, the Coverage A component of this

policy does not include building code upgrades as the policy in *Starczewski* did.

Allemand, 160 Wn. App. at 372, 248 P.3d 111.

However, the Court also held that because the *Allemand* policy contained the optional coverage for building ordinance and code compliance costs, the case was similar to the *DePhelps* case, but with one key distinguishing feature.

Unlike that case, however, the policy here expressly limits the code upgrade coverage to 10 percent of the policy maximum.

Allemand, 160 Wn. App. at 372, 248 P.3d 111.

The *Allemand* Court then specifically held that the 10% of Coverage A limit was valid and enforceable.

In light of the foregoing authority, the policy language is clear and this court is not in a position to find it ambiguous. *Quadrant Corp.*, 154 Wn.2d 165. State Farm's original obligation under Coverage A is to provide "similar construction" in rebuilding the home. Unlike *Starczewski*, that phrase does not include paying for required code upgrades. Instead, the policy provides for necessary upgrades by Option OL. That coverage is the sole source of the obligation to pay for bringing the remodeled home up to code. But that coverage is limited to the 10 percent of Coverage A that the Allemands purchased. The necessary upgrades required more than that figure and State Farm thus properly tendered its limits under that coverage. ***It was not required to pay more for the upgrades.***

Allemand, 160 Wn. App. at 373, 248 P.3d 111 (emphasis added).

The Court's decision in *Allemand* is directly on point in this

matter.

Ms. Lesure indicates in her briefing to this Court that she “disagrees” with the *Allemand* decision. However, Ms. Lesure’s disagreement is based on the fundamental misapprehension of how the policies work under Washington law. Ms. Lesure’s entire position is based on the argument that if Ms. Lesure had not purchased the optional coverage, she would have been entitled to payment for all code upgrades. In fact, Ms. Lesure repeats this argument throughout her briefing.

However, this argument ignores the fact that the policy issued to Ms. Lesure provides for loss payment on an “equivalent construction” basis, just as in *Dombrosky*, thereby precluding code upgrade coverage unless Ms. Lesure purchases the coverage separately. Here, Ms. Lesure, like the insured in *Allemand*, did purchase the coverage. However, that specific coverage is subject to a policy sub-limit. Ms. Lesure’s complaint is really with the valid and unambiguous limit that applies to that coverage.

Moreover, the *Allemand* decision is not the final word from the Courts of this jurisdiction on this subject. In a July 7, 2015 decision, the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington, Honorable James Robart, summarized Washington law on this subject as follows:

In interpreting similar policies, Washington courts have consistently held that replacement costs "for like construction and use" of a structure do not include costs of upgrading a structure to meet building codes that it did not previously meet. See *Allemand v. State Farm Ins. Companies*, 160 Wn. App. 365, 248 P.3d 111, 114 (Wash. Ct. App. 2011) (holding that coverage for "similar construction" did not include upgrades to comply with building codes); *Dombrosky v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 84 Wn. App. 245, 928 P.2d 1127, 1135 (Wash. Ct. App. 1996), as amended (Feb. 7, 1997) (holding that coverage for "equivalent construction" did [*12] not include building code upgrades); *Roberts v. Allied Group Insurance Co.*, 79 Wn. App. 323, 326, 901 P.2d 317 (Wash. Ct. App. 1995). (holding that coverage for "like construction" did not include building code upgrades). Therefore, the replacement costs described under subsection (b) do not include costs necessary to bring a formerly nonconforming structure into compliance with existing building codes. (See Policy at 16.)

On the other hand, Washington courts interpreting similar provisions have found that replacement costs in the "necessary amount actually spent to repair or replace the damaged building" do include costs necessary to comply with building codes. See *Starczewski v. Unigard Ins. Grp.*, 61 Wn. App. 267, 810 P.2d 58, 62 (Wash. 1991). Therefore, it appears that the replacement costs described under subsection (c) could include compliance costs. On that basis, Mr. Allen argues that he is automatically entitled to coverage for costs of bringing his dwelling into compliance with modern building codes.

Certain Underwriters at Lloyds, London v. Allen, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88141, 11-12 (W.D. Wash. July 7, 2015).

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